STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

On Writ of Certiorari to Charleston County
John C. Hayes, III, Post-Conviction Relief Judge
Stephanie P. McDonald, Trial Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-002309

THERRON RICHARDSON,

Respondent,

vs.

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100108

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED
JUN 23 2017
S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON CERTIORARI

Did the post-conviction relief court err as a matter of law by granting Richardson a new trial, where it applied an incorrect standard and erroneously granted relief despite failing to make the requisite finding that Richardson would have prevailed on appeal had the issue been preserved for appellate review?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

During its April 2011 term, the Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Richardson for trafficking cocaine (2011-GS-10-02320), possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime (2011-GS-10-02321), and four counts of unlawful possession of a firearm by a person convicted of a crime of violence (2011-GS-10-02323, -02324, -02325 & -02326). He was initially represented by Alicia Penn and Mary Ford of the Ninth Circuit Public Defender's Office, including during a May 9, 2012, pretrial suppression hearing before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis; however, he was ultimately represented at trial by Donna K. Taylor and D. Lynn Bowley, Esquires, of the Charleston County Bar. On November 13-15, 2012, Richardson proceeded to a jury trial in the Charleston County Court of General Sessions before the Honorable Stephanie P. McDonald, circuit court judge. At the conclusion of trial, the jury convicted Richardson as indicted. Judge McDonald sentenced Richardson to thirty years' imprisonment for trafficking cocaine, a consecutive term of five years' imprisonment for one count of unlawful possession of a firearm (2011-GS-10-02323), and four concurrent terms of five years' imprisonment for each of the three remaining counts of unlawful possession of a firearm and the single count of possession of a firearm during commission of a violent crime, for an aggregate sentence of thirty-five years' imprisonment.

Richardson timely filed a notice of intent to appeal his convictions and sentences and an appeal was perfected by Appellate Defender Robert M. Pachak of the South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense—Division of Appellate Defense. Following briefing, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Richardson's conviction and sentence in an unpublished

summary opinion. State v. Therron Richardson, Op. No. 2014-UP-471 (Ct. App. filed Dec. 17, 2104). The Remittitur was returned to the circuit court on January 6, 2015.

Thereafter, Richardson filed a timely application for post-conviction relief on March 27, 2015, alleging he was being held in custody unlawfully based on an allegation of ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to timely object to the introduction of evidence seized from his home, thereby failing to preserve the issue for appellate review. The State made its Return on July 29, 2015, requesting an evidentiary hearing be held. An evidentiary hearing into the application was convened August 3, 2016, in the Charleston County Court of General Sessions before the Honorable John C Hayes, III, circuit court judge. Richardson was present at the hearing and represented by Rodney Davis, Esquire. The State was represented by Assistant Attorney General J. Rutledge Johnson of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office. Richardson did not testify at the hearing but presented testimony from trial counsels and appellate counsel.

Following the evidentiary hearing, Judge Hayes issued a written order granting Richardson post-conviction relief, finding trial counsel was ineffective for failing to contemporaneously object to the introduction of evidence seized from Richardson's home, thereby failing to preserve the issue for appellate review. Notably, Judge Hayes stated he did "not find that [Richardson] would have prevailed on appeal . . ." This order was filed on August 15, 2016. The State did not receive notice of entry of the order until October 17, 2016. The State served its notice of appeal on November 16, 2016.

Factual History

On October 17, 2010, at 11:15 a.m., Deputies Jason Bowen and Julius Alexander of the Charleston County Sheriff's Department were dispatched to Richardson's house in response to

an emergency call. An unidentified female had called 911 at 11:09 a.m. claiming to be trapped in a bedroom at the residence after being attacked by her boyfriend. Upon arriving at the house at 11:24 a.m., the officers knocked and announced their presence but received no response. They then split up and walked around the residence, discovering a sliding glass door at the back that was partially open. The officers entered the house to try to locate the 911 caller and to conduct a protective sweep for anyone who might be a threat. They did not discover any people in the house; however, during the sweep they observed guns, a safe, a large sum of cash, a digital scale, and a white powdery residue that appeared to be cocaine. Based on these observations, the Sheriff's Department obtained a search warrant and the narcotics division conducted a search of the house. They discovered over 2,000 grams of cocaine, five loaded guns, over twenty thousand dollars in cash, digital scales, and other evidence of illegal drug activity, and charged Richardson with trafficking cocaine, possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime, and five counts of possession of a firearm by a person convicted of a violent crime. (App. p. 519).

On May 7, 2012, Richardson filed a motion to suppress all evidence obtained from his residence on grounds it was obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution. A suppression hearing was held on May 9, 2012, before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis. Richardson was present and was represented by Alicia Penn and Mary Ford of the Ninth Circuit Public Defender's Office. The State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Emmanuel Ferguson of the Ninth Circuit Solicitor's Office. (App. p. 519).

During the suppression hearing, the State first played a tape recording of the 911 call and then presented testimony from Deputy Bowen. (App. p. 11, line 25 - p. 13, line 23). Bowen was working patrol duty on October 17, 2010, when he was dispatched to a Charleston County

address for an “in-progress domestic violence call.” He was told a female called 911 because her boyfriend had choked her and she had locked herself in a room inside the house for her safety. Bowen explained his primary goal in any domestic call is “person safety.” Deputy Alexander was also dispatched to the address and arrived at the house simultaneously with Bowen. Bowen approached the front door where he noticed a “key-type deadbolt” instead of a doorknob, which is highly unusual and made him afraid someone was “controlling” the 911 caller and could be keeping her locked in the house. Bowen knocked on the door several times with increasing intensity and loudness but did not get a response. Bowen and Alexander then decided to “cover” the house to see if there were any open windows or other doors. Alexander discovered a sliding glass door in the rear that was partially open. The officers entered the house to secure the scene and to make sure nobody inside was harmed. They searched the house for places they thought people could be hiding because they were concerned about an injured person or a person in danger. During the search they found no people but saw a scale with white powder residue and razor blades in the bathroom, a safe and money strewn about in a closet, and several guns on the floor under a bed. They secured the scene and waited for their supervisor to arrive. (App. p. 13, line 19 - p. 23, line 20).

On cross-examination, Bowen acknowledged he did not see anyone flee from the house and saw no broken windows or bullet holes on the house, or footprint marks on the door. He also did not hear any screaming, footsteps, or toilets flushing before they entered. (App. p. 28, line 10 - p. 29, line 1). However, on re-direct examination, Bowen explained the fact they did not hear anything could mean a victim was unconscious and lying in the house, or she was staying quiet due to fear. (App. p. 35, line 12 - p. 38, line 25). Richardson then called several witnesses, including Deputy Alexander, to the stand. Alexander corroborated Bowen’s account of the

events which led to the search of Richardson's house. (App.p.66, line 13-p.77, line 15). Later that day, the Sheriff's Department obtained a search warrant for the house based on the observations made by Bowen and Alexander, and the narcotics team executed a search which ultimately led to the charges against Richardson. (App .p. 337, line 8-p.341, line 2).

After hearing testimony and oral arguments, and reviewing the exhibits and parties' written submissions, Judge Dennis orally announced: "I am just suppressing this evidence today." (App.p.100, line 22-p.101, line 20). However, upon further consideration, Judge Dennis issued a written order denying the motion to suppress by finding "the warrantless search & seizure to be proper, reasonable and not violative of Defendant's constitutional rights." (App. p. 101, line 1; p. 521).

On June 29, 2012, Richardson filed a motion to reconsider. (App. p. 521). Then, on August 13, 2012, Richardson filed a motion to exclude the same evidence, but on different grounds, arguing it was obtained in violation of the criminal domestic violence (CDV) provisions of the South Carolina Code Ann. § 16-25-70(H)(1)(a)". (App. p. 521). On August 28, 2012, Judge Dennis convened a hearing on Richardson's motions. Richardson was present and was represented by Mary Ford of the Ninth Circuit Public Defender's Office and Donna Taylor, Esquire. The State was represented by Assistant Solicitors Emmanuel Ferguson and Culver Kidd of the Ninth Circuit Solicitor's Office. After hearing arguments from Richardson, Judge Dennis denied the motion to reconsider and declined to rule on the motion to suppress on statutory grounds, finding the new motion was premature and should be raised to the trial judge. (App. p. 104 - p.114).

On November 13, 2012, the case was called for trial before the Honorable Stephanie P. McDonald; however, with consent of the parties, Judge Dennis conducted jury qualification and

selection while Judge McDonald handled a prior commitment. Richardson was present and represented by Donna K. Taylor and D. Lynn Bowley, Esquires. (App.p.46-p.175). Later that day, Judge McDonald assumed her role as presiding trial court judge and heard pre-trial motions, including Richardson's motion to exclude/suppress the evidence pursuant to the CDV statute. After hearing arguments from both parties, reviewing section 16-25-70 of the Code, and reviewing two published opinions which addressed the statute,¹ Judge McDonald found the officers did not enter Richardson's residence pursuant to the authorization of the CDV statute and denied the motion to suppress. (App. p. 154, line 1 - p. 170, line 10). The jury was then sworn, and the case proceeded to trial. (App. p. 179, line 1 - p. 180, line 8).

During the course of trial, the State sought to introduce various items into evidence, all of which were found either during the initial protective sweep or the subsequent search of Richardson's house. These included: (1) plastic baggies, scales, boxes, spoons and other items associated with the sale and distribution of narcotics; (2) bills, receipts, and other items linking Richardson to ownership of the house, (3) several guns, clips and ammunition; and (4) more than 2,000 grams (two kilograms) of cocaine. In each instance, Richardson stated he had "no objection" to the items introduced, and the evidence was admitted "without objection." (App. p. 348, lines 1-11; p. 357, lines 1-8; p. 361, lines 7-15; p. 366, lines 1-6; p. 371, lines 3-9; p. 372, lines 3-10). After the State concluded its case in chief, Richardson asked to "renew all prior arguments" including his request to exclude evidence under the CDV statute. The trial judge reiterated her earlier ruling to admit the evidence: "in light of the purpose and function of the domestic violence statute as well as the Supreme Court State v. Cannon decision." (App. p. 441, line 13-p. 443, line 5).

¹ State v. Cannon, 336 S.C. 335, 520 S.E.2d 317 (1999); State v. Roberts, 340 S.C. 238, 530 S.E.2d 899 (Ct. App. 2000).

At the end of trial, the jury found Richardson guilty on all counts, and Richardson asked to renew any motions he had previously made. The trial judge said she stood by her prior rulings and denied the motions. (App. p. 492, line 11-p. 494, line 24). Richardson was sentenced to thirty years' imprisonment for trafficking cocaine, a consecutive term of five years' imprisonment for one count of unlawful possession of a firearm, and four concurrent terms of five years' imprisonment for each of the three remaining counts of unlawful possession of a firearm and the single count of possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. (App. pp. 611-40;. p. 497, line 23-p. 499, line 10).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard of review of a post-conviction relief decision is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the lower court’s findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). The reviewing court should reverse the post-conviction relief court if there is no probative evidence to support the lower court’s ruling or if it is controlled by an error of law. Suber v. State, 371 S.C. 554, 558-59, 640 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2007) (citing Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 651, 594 S.E.2d 462, 465 (2004)).

In a post-conviction relief action, an applicant has the burden of proving the allegations in his or her application. Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC; Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). When an applicant alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, he or she must prove “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813. The proper measure of performance is whether an attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. “There is a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decisions in the case.” Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007). The applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove counsel’s performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its “reasonableness under professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 385 S.E.2d at 625 (citing Strickland). Second, counsel’s deficient performance must

have prejudiced the applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. A court need not first determine whether counsel’s performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. Strickland, 466 U.S. 668.

:

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief court erred as a matter of law by granting Richardson a new trial, where it applied an incorrect standard and erroneously granted relief despite failing to make the requisite finding that Richardson would have prevailed on appeal had the issue been preserved for appellate review.

When the issue is that trial counsel failed to preserve the search issue for an appeal, certiorari is proper where the post-conviction relief court had not concluded Richardson would have prevailed on appeal, but only found “Applicant would have had the search and seizure issue addressed by an appellate court.” This conclusion falls short of the prejudice prong requirement of Strickland v. Washington of a reasonable probability the **result** of the proceeding would have been different. In finding that while the proceeding and not the result would have been different, the post-conviction relief court erroneously granted Richardson a new trial.

In its order of dismissal, the post-conviction relief court found:

Trial counsel should have protected the record for appeal and was ineffective in not doing so.

There is no question trial counsel’s failure to protect the record for appeal prejudiced Applicant. The failure to preserve the issue of the seizure extinguished Applicant’s opportunity to have a very viable constitutional claim reviewed by an appellate court. The result in the proceeding, i.e. trial and appeal, would have been different if the record had been protected. **The undersigned does not find that Applicant would have prevailed on appeal**, but must, and does find the proceedings would have been different. Simply put, Applicant would have had the search and seizure issue addressed by an appellate court.

(App. 609). Essentially, the post-conviction relief court acknowledges the ultimate result of the proceeding would not have been different—Richardson would **not** have prevailed on appeal, but nonetheless, erroneously finds “the result of the proceedings would have been different.” This

finding constitutes an error of law requiring this Court’s review on certiorari and ultimately reversal.²

A. The prejudice prong requirement that the result of the proceeding would likely have been different was not found.

This Court has previously held an issue that was raised on direct appeal but found to be unpreserved may be raised in the context of a post-conviction relief claim alleging ineffective assistance of counsel. McHam v. State, 404 S.C. 465, 475, 746 S.E.2d 41, 47 (2013) (citing McLaughlin v. State, 352 S.C. 476, 575 S.E.2d 841 (2003); Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 518 S.E.2d 265 (1999)). However, to be entitled to relief on such a claim, an applicant must establish the underlying claim is meritorious and would have resulted in a reversal on appeal to a reasonable probability. McHam, 404 S.C. at 475–76, 746 S.E.2d at 47 (“Since the Fourth Amendment issue was not considered on direct appeal because it was unpreserved, an examination of the merits of the issue is appropriate in analyzing the prejudice prong in McHam’s PCR claim.”) (citing Sikes v. State, 323 S.C. 28, 30, 448 S.E.2d 560, 562 (1994) (“When the defendant claims that counsel’s failure to articulate a Fourth Amendment claim was ineffective assistance, [the] defendant must show that such claim is **meritorious** and that the verdict would have been different absent the evidence that should have been excluded.”) (emphasis in McHam)). Therefore, before a post-conviction relief court can find an applicant has prevailed on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to preserve a ground for appellate review, the court must determine the underlying claim was meritorious and a reasonable probability that it would have resulted in reversal and a new trial.

² The post-conviction relief court’s order also contains an error of fact—it indicated Richardson testified at the evidentiary hearing when he did not. See App. p. 608; see also App. p. 550-92. This is further evidence of a convoluted and contradictory order not properly based on the record or correct law.

In this case, the post-conviction relief court did not make an express finding Richardson would have prevailed on appeal had trial counsel properly preserved his suppression arguments for appellate review. In contrast, the post-conviction relief court found Richardson would not have prevailed on his appeal. Therefore, this ultimate grant of relief is based on an error of law requiring reversal.

B. The prejudice prong cannot be satisfied on this record when the evidence was admissible so the failure to preserve for an impact on the result.

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