STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

ORIGINAL

Certiorari to Charleston County

Honorable John C. Hayes, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

NOV 06 2017

THERRON R. RICHARDSON,

S.C. SUPREME COURT
RESPONDENT

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-002309

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

1.

The state's argument that the PCR court erred as a matter of law by granting Respondent a new trial when it applied an incorrect standard and granted relief despite failing to make the requisite finding that Respondent would have prevailed on appeal had the issue been preserved for appellate review is not preserved when the state took a different position before the PCR court and consented to the standard applied by the court.

During oral arguments at the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing, the following colloquy took place between the PCR judge and the assistant attorney general:

[Assistant AG]: Your Honor, and then the last argument I have is that Mr. Davis [Respondent's counsel] makes this argument that [the] Court of Appeals, if [it] would have had this issue preserved, would have, by [the plain] reading of the statute [S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-70(H)], would have overturned [reversed] that case [the ruling of the trial judge].

The Court: I can't make a finding there.

[Assistant AG]: **Exactly. That's speculation.**

The Court: . . . I don't think it's my job to determine the merits of the appeal. That's up to an appellate court.

[Assistant AG]: **Yes, sir. And that will be my argument. That would be complete speculation.** And in that regard, even if there is ineffective assistance, if there is some type of ineffective counsel, **there is no prejudice because there's overwhelming evidence [of guilt] in this case,** Your Honor. We ask you to deny and dismiss this application.

App. 588, ll. 2-17 (emphasis added).

Not only did the state fail to object to the standard applied by the PCR judge, the assistant attorney general agreed the judge was applying the correct standard. App. 588, ll. 2-17. The state cannot now complain on appeal that the PCR judge applied an incorrect standard. See State v.

Stroman, 281 S.C. 508, 513, 316 S.E.2d 395, 399 (1984) (“[A] party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct has induced.”).

In State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. 586, 611 S.E.2d 283, 287 (Ct. App. 2005), Carlson argued on appeal that the trial judge failed to conduct a proper hearing on the admissibility of the victim’s out of court identification pursuant to Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972) and State v. Ramsey, 345 S.C. 607, 550 S.E.2d 294 (2001). The Court of Appeals emphasized that generally a trial court must hold an *in camera* hearing when the state offers a witness whose testimony identifies the defendant as the person who committed the crime, and the defendant challenges the in court identification as being tainted by a previous, illegal identification or confrontation. However, the court found Carlson consented to the trial judge’s suggestion that the court merely view the pictures contained in the photographic lineup viewed by the victim rather than require testimony. Id. at 594-595, 611 S.E.2d at 287 (internal citations omitted). In holding that Carlson failed to preserve the argument for appellate review, the court asserted:

An issue may not be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review. **A party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct has induced.** Where an objection and the ground therefore is not stated in the record, there is no basis for appellate review. A contemporaneous objection is required to preserve issues for direct appellate review. **Not only did Carlson fail to object, but he consented to the procedure proposed by the trial judge. Consequently, Carlson failed to preserve this issue.**

Carlson, 363 S.C. at 595, 611 S.E.2d at 287 (internal citations and quotation marks omitted) (emphasis added).

As shown by the colloquy above, at the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing, the state agreed with the PCR judge that the judge could not make a finding regarding whether Respondent would have prevailed on appeal if trial counsel had contemporaneously objected to the admission of the evidence seized from Respondent’s residence and properly preserved the

pretrial motion to suppress for appellate review. The PCR judge asserted, “I don’t think it’s my job to determine the merits of the appeal. That’s up to an appellate court.” The assistant attorney general responded, “*Yes, sir. And that would be my argument.* That would be complete speculation.” App. 588, ll. 6-13 (emphasis added). He went on to advocate an incorrect standard. He asserted: “[T]here is no prejudice because there’s overwhelming evidence in this case.” App. 588, ll. 13-17.

Moreover, pursuant to judicial estoppel, the state cannot take one position during the proceedings before the PCR court and a different position on appeal. In Cothran v. Brown, 357 S.C. 210, 215, 592 S.E.2d 629, 631 (2004), this Court explained that “[j]udicial estoppel is an equitable concept that prevents a litigant from asserting a position inconsistent with, or in conflict with, one the litigant has previously asserted in the same or related proceeding.” See State v. Blakney, 410 S.C. 244, 254-255, 763 S.E.2d 622, 628 (Ct. App. 2014) (Few, C.J. dissenting) (explaining that under judicial estoppel “the State may not argue to a sentencing court that the court has the power to suspend a sentence, and after the court accepts the State’s argument and suspends the sentence, turn around and argue, as it has done in this appeal, the sentence may not be suspended” as these two positions are “precisely the opposite” of each other).

Additionally, the state never filed a motion to alter or amend the judgment pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, informing the PCR judge that the state believed he applied an incorrect standard and requesting the judge address whether Respondent would have prevailed on appeal if the issue had been properly preserved. See Petition at 11. A “Rule 59(e) motion must be filed if issues are not adequately addressed in order to preserve the issues for appellate review.” Marlar v. State, 375 S.C. 407, 410, 653 S.E.2d 266, 267 (2007).

In Burgess v. State, 402 S.C. 92, 738 S.E.2d 264 (Ct. App. 2013), the Court of Appeals held the state's argument that the PCR court erred in failing to determine whether Burgess was prejudiced by his counsel's failure to request a jury charge regarding Burgess's absence from his criminal trial was not preserved for appellate review because the state failed to file a Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion asking the PCR court to specifically determine whether Burgess suffered prejudice as a result of his counsel's deficient performance. Id. at 94-95, 738 S.E.2d at 265.

This Court should likewise hold the state's argument that the PCR judge applied an incorrect standard is not preserved since the state failed to file a Rule 59(e) motion informing the PCR judge that the state believed he applied an incorrect standard and requesting the judge address whether Respondent would have prevailed on appeal if the issue had been properly preserved, particularly given the fact that the state consented to the standard applied by the judge on the record at the evidentiary hearing. See App. 588, ll. 2-17.

Respondent respectfully requests this Court hold the state's argument is not preserved for appellate review.

2.

There is evidence to support the PCR court's finding that trial counsel was ineffective when she failed to preserve for appellate review Respondent's motion to suppress evidence seized from his residence pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-70(H) where counsel moved pretrial to suppress the evidence but failed to contemporaneously object when the evidence was admitted at trial, and that Respondent was prejudiced because if counsel had properly preserved the objection, the appellate court would have considered the merits of the argument on appeal.

“On certiorari in PCR cases, the Court applies an ‘any evidence’ standard of review.” McHam v. State, 404 S.C. 465, 472, 746 S.E.2d 41, 45 (2013) (citing Terry v. State, 394 S.C. 62, 66, 714 S.E.2d 326, 328 (2011)). “This Court will uphold the findings of the PCR judge when there is *any* evidence of probative value to support them, and it will reverse the PCR judge’s decision when it is controlled by an error of law.” Id. at 473, 746 S.E.2d at 45 (quoting Suber v. State, 371 S.C. 554, 558-559, 640 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2007)) (internal quotation marks omitted) (emphasis added). “This Court gives great deference to the PCR judge’s findings of fact and conclusions of law.” Id. (citing Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 610 S.E.2d 812 (2005)).

In order to show ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, an applicant must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688.

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. An applicant must prove “that counsel’s performance was deficient” and fell below reasonable

professional norms, and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial." Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668).

"This Court has previously held that an issue that was raised on direct appeal but found to be unpreserved may be raised in the context of a PCR claim alleging ineffective assistance of counsel." McHam v. State, 404 S.C. 465, 475, 746 S.E.2d 41, 47 (2013) (citing McLaughlin v. State, 352 S.C. 476, 575 S.E.2d 841 (2003) and Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 518 S.E.2d 265 (1999)). In McHam, this Court found McHam's counsel's failure to renew his Fourth Amendment objection constituted deficient performance that satisfied the first prong of the Strickland analysis. Id. at 474, 746 S.E.2d at 46.

Here, it is clear from the record that trial counsel did not contemporaneously object when the evidence that was seized from Respondent's residence was admitted into evidence during trial. App. 252, ll. 4-12. Consequently, she failed to preserve the motion to suppress for appellate review. See State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 541 S.E.2d 837 (2001) ("[M]aking a motion *in limine* to exclude evidence at the beginning of trial does not preserve an issue for review because a motion *in limine* is not a final determination. The moving party must make a contemporaneous objection when the evidence is introduced.") Because counsel failed to contemporaneously object, the Court of Appeals found the motion to suppress pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-70, which was raised by Respondent on direct appeal, was not preserved for appellate review and refused to consider the merits. State v. Richardson, Op. No. 2014-UP-471 (S.C. Ct. App. filed December 17, 2014); App. 534-535. Counsel's failure to renew the objection

constituted deficient performance. Consequently, there is ample evidence to support the PCR court's finding that counsel was ineffective. See App. 609.

“Since the [suppression] issue was not considered on direct appeal because it was unpreserved, an examination of the merits of the issue is appropriate in analyzing the prejudice prong.” McHam, 404 S.C. at 475, 746 S.E.2d at 47; See Sikes v. State, 323 S.C. 28, 30, 448 S.E.2d 560, 562 (1994) (“When the defendant claims that counsel’s failure to articulate a Fourth Amendment claim was ineffective assistance, *[the] defendant must show that such claim is meritorious* and that the verdict would have been different absent the evidence that should have been excluded.) (emphasis added).

The PCR court correctly found Respondent was prejudiced by trial counsel’s failure to preserve the motion to suppress because it “extinguished [Respondent’s] opportunity to have a *very viable* claim reviewed by an appellate court.” App. 609. Implicit in this finding is the PCR court’s belief that the motion to suppress was a meritorious claim. The court further emphasized that the sole evidence against Respondent at trial was the evidence subject to suppression. App. 609. Consequently, the outcome of Respondent’s trial would have been different if this evidence had been excluded. App. 609. Pursuant to this Court’s holdings in McHam and Sikes, this finding is sufficient to satisfy the prejudice prong in Strickland.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-70 states in relevant part:

- (A) A law enforcement officer may arrest, with or without a warrant, a person at the person’s place of residence or elsewhere if the officer has probable cause to believe that the person is committing or has freshly committed a misdemeanor or felony pursuant to the provisions of Section 16-25-20, 16-25-65, or 16-25-125, even if the act did not take place in the presence of the officer . . .
- (C) *In effecting a warrantless arrest under this section, a law enforcement officer may enter the residence of the person to be arrested in order to effect the arrest where the officer has probable cause to believe that the action is*

reasonably necessary to prevent physical harm or danger to a family member or household member.

(H) Evidence discovered as a result of a warrantless search administered pursuant to a complaint filed under this article is admissible in a court of law:

(1) if it is found:

(a) in plain view of a law enforcement officer *in a room in which the officer is interviewing, detaining, or pursuing a suspect*; or

(b) pursuant to a search incident to a lawful arrest for a violation of this article or for a violation of Chapter 3, Title 16; or

(2) if it is evidence of a violation of this article.

An officer may arrest and file criminal charges against a suspect for any offense that arises from evidence discovered pursuant to this section.

Unless otherwise provided for in this section, *no evidence of a crime found as a result of a warrantless search administered pursuant to a complaint under this article is admissible in any court of law.*

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-70 (emphasis added)

This statute provides officers responding to a criminal domestic violence complaint with an exception to the warrant requirement in certain limited, clearly defined circumstances. In the absence of these specific circumstances, no evidence of a crime the officers may have seen is admissible in any court of law.

One of the first and only times this Court has addressed and analyzed this statute is in State v. Cannon, 336 S.C. 335, 520 S.E.2d 317 (1999). In Cannon, an officer with the City of York Police Department responded to Cannon's home in response to a criminal domestic violence complaint. Id. at 337, 520 S.E.2d at 318. When the officer arrived, Cannon's mother, who also resided in the home, invited the officer into the house. Id. at 337, 520 S.E.2d at 318. She told the officer that Cannon had a knife. Id. When the officer spoke with Cannon, he stated

he was playing a videogame when his mother became upset, came at him with a vacuum cleaner, and he grabbed a knife. Id. The officer arrested Cannon for criminal domestic violence. Id. After escorting Cannon outside, the officer conducted a search incident to arrest and located a pill bottle in Cannon's pocket, which was found to contain crack cocaine. Id. The officer claimed that if he had not been invited into the home, he would not have entered because he "didn't hear any screams or anything like that." Id. Cannon was ultimately indicted for possession of crack cocaine with intent to distribute. Id. at 336, 520 S.E.2d at 317.

Cannon moved pretrial to suppress the crack cocaine. He argued S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-70(H) prohibits the admission of evidence of crimes, other than criminal domestic violence, seized through a warrantless search conducted as a result of a criminal domestic violence complaint. Id. at 337, 520 S.E.2d at 317. Finding the police entered Cannon's home with the consent of his mother, not based on the statutory authority of § 16-25-70, the trial judge denied Cannon's motion to suppress. Id.

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